Supreme Court No.

No. 43265-0-II



OF THE STATE OF WASHING BY ALE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT LISLE HALE, Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF LISLE HALE, deceased; CLARA HALE, surviving spouse of LISLE HALE; ROBERT L. HALE; DONALD HALE; and TRICIA HALE,

# Appellants,

BRIDGE BUILDERS, LTD.; MINDI R. BLANCHARD and JOHN DOE BLANCHARD; BRENDA S. CARPENTER and JOHN DOE CARPENTER; JANET WATRAL and JOHN DOE WATRAL; MICHAEL R. HASTINGS and JANE DOE HASTINGS; and MICHAEL R. HASTINGS, P.S.,

Respondents.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephen K. Eugster WSBA No. 2003 Eugster Law Office, PSC Attorney for Appellants

2418 West First Avenue Spokane, Washington 99201-6422 (509) 624-5566

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW			
IV.	STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	Facts		
	В.	<b>Procedure.</b>		
V.	SUM	MARY OF ARGUMENT6		
VI.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED6			
	A.	<b>RAP 13.4(b)(4).</b> 6		
		1. Elderly Hales Sought Application of the In-Home Care Services Act to Themselves		
		2. The Court Holds the Elderly Hales Have No Standing to Claim Violation of the Act		
		3. Bridge Builders and Blanchard: Attorneys in Fact		
	C.	Should the Hales Have Been Allowed to Be Provided With Discovery		

	and Their Clients?	7	
D.	Malpractice Claim	8	
VII. CONCLUSION 19			

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Table of Cases

Cummings v. Guardianship Servs.,
128 Wn. App. 742 750 (2005), pet. rev. denied,
157 Wn.2d 1006, 136 P.3d 759 (2006)
Wn.2d 1006, 136
Hale v. Bridge Builders, LTD.,
43265-0-II (Wash. App. 8-20-2013)
Statutes
RCW 74.34.200 7
RCW 18.79.260
RCW 18.79.260(3)(e)
RCW 70.127.010 (6)
RCW 70.127.010(5)
RCW 70.127.020
RCW 70.127.020(6)
RCW 70.127.040
RCW 70.127.040 (14)
RCW 70.127.080

RCW /0.12/.120
RCW 70.127.150
RCW 70.127.216
RCW 74.34.200
RCW Ch. 19.86
RCW Ch. 70.127
WAC Chapter 246-335
Rules and Regulations
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
Other Authorities
BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 785 (6th ed. 1990)
RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 7

#### I. PETITIONERS

The Petitioners are the entire Hale Family: Plaintiffs Robert Lisle Hale, Personal Representative of the Estate of Lisle Hale, deceased; Clara Hale, surviving spouse of Lisle Hale by her attorney in fact Donald Hale; and Robert L. Hale, Donald Hale, and Tricia Hale, the children of Lisle and Clara Hale. Petitioners ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeal's decision terminating review designated in Part II of this Petition.

The Respondents are Bridge Builders, Ltd.; Mindi R. Blanchard (owner Bridge Builders (BB) and John Doe Blanchard; Brenda S. Carpenter (employee of BB) and John Doe Carpenter; Janet Watral(Director of Admissions at Sherwood) and John Doe Watral.<sup>1</sup>

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Hale v. Bridge Builders, LTD., 43265-0-II (Wash. App. 8-20-2013), unpublished; Order Denying Motion for Publication, September 24, 2013. The decision is at Appendix 2. The Order Denying Motion for Publication entered on September 24, 2013, is also in the Appendix at 18.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The parties were before Judge Craddock Verser three times on summary judgment motions regarding the application of the In-Home Care Services

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defendants Attorney Michael R. Hastings and his law firm were dismissed from the case in the spring of 2011.

Act (RCW Ch. 70.127) (Act) and whether Bridge Builders<sup>2</sup> should have been licensed in the spring and early summer of 2008.

- 1. Does an elderly couple, incapable of providing for themselves, one of whom suffers from dementia, have legal standing to claim their rights were violated by an alleged "home care service" provider which obtained their power of attorney to facilitate residential care in their own home and actually provided some services and offered more?
- 2. Is it at least a question of fact whether Defendants were required to be licensed under the In-Home Care Services Act, RCW 70.127?
- 3. Whether the powers of attorney obtained from the elderly couple by Bridge Builders violated the In-Home Care Services Act, RCW 70.127.150?
- 4. Should the Hales have been allowed to be provided with discovery concerning the work of Bridge Builders and their clients?
- 5. Do the allegations in Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint, if proven, support grounds for a claim of professional malpractice against Bridge Builders?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Defendants Bridge Builders, Mindi R. Blanchard (owner) and Brenda Carpenter (employee) are referred to herein, unless otherwise indicated, as Bridge Builders.

#### A. Facts.

Clara Hale, then age 90, joined Lisle Hale, then age 86, at Sherwood Assisted Living (Sherwood) in Sequim, Washington on June 4, 2008. Lisle had been at Sherwood since early April 4, 2008.

On June 4, 2008, having obtained the name of a lawyer from Defendant Watral Director of Admissions at Sherwood, the very next day, June 5, 2008, the Hales' met with the attorney, Michael R. Hastings, whose office was just across the street from Sherwood.

Later that day, the day after Clara Hale came to Sherwood, Mindi Blanchard met with the Hales – her time entry for that day says, "I met Michael Hastings at Sherwood Assisted Living . . . primarily, they wanted to move back home. I told them that I could assist them with this. I asked them if they would be willing to have me be their power of attorney. They agreed and I told them that I would let Michael Hastings know." [Emphasis added.] CP 243, Appendix 55.

Attorney Hastings drafted new powers of attorney for them providing Mindi Blanchard and Bridge Builders be named their attorney in fact and revoking the powers they previously had given to their children years earlier. Declaration of Tricia Hale, CP 125.

On June 6, 2008, the revocations and powers were signed.

Declaration of Robert Hale, CP 343-63. Bridge Builders and owner Mindi Blanchard, that very day, without any consultation with the Hale children, without knowing the Hale's physical and mental conditions, without having any knowledge of the costs, without knowing of the emergency care needs of the Hales and without knowing the financial circumstances of the Hales, promptly began the process of moving Hales back to their home. Declaration of Mindi Blanchard, Time Sheets, CP 244-246. See also the Declaration of Alice Semingson, Plaintiffs' expert at Appendix 61-65.

At Sherwood, Defendant Director Watral told the Hale children not to visit their parents for awhile but to give them some time to become acclimated to Sherwood, just as Lisle Hale had earlier in April. CP 125 and following.

The children were crestfallen. After they understood the situation of what had happened, they took steps to thwart Bridge Builders' and Mindi Blanchard's plans and succeeded in doing so June 12, 2009. Lisle Hale has passed away. Clara Hale is still at Sherwood and has severe dementia.

Bridge Builders advertised itself next to an advertisement of Michael R. Hastings. Robt. Hale Declaration, CP 364. The advertisement included reference to the Bridge Builders website – <a href="www.bridgebldrs.com">www.bridgebldrs.com</a>. *Id*.

On the website, Bridge Builders provided information about the

services it provided. The Internet information identified Bridge Builders as "Providing Assisted Living Services in the Home." *Id.*, CP 325 - 41. The home page of the website also said that Bridge Builders "Supported Independence" and that it was "Licensed, Insured and Bonded." CP 325. The site included a "Menu of Services" (CP 320) and "Specialty Services." *Id.* In the Fees section, Bridge Builders said its "Mission" was as follows: "We bridge the gaps in resources, and provide the framework for individuals to be able to maintain their personal independence for as long as possible." [Emphasis added.] *Id.*; CP 331.

In the Specialty Services section, Bridge Builders advertised these services: (a) Power of Attorney – services as attorney-in-fact under power of attorney; (b) Certified Professional Guardian; (c) "Representative of the Estate." *Id.* CP 334 - 45.

#### B. Procedure.

The case was commenced in May 2009. Bridge Builders brought three motions for summary judgment commencing in the fall of 2009 prior to this last motion, the one which is the subject of the Court of Appeals decision. All of these motions dealt with the meaning and applicability of the In-home Care Services Act, RCW 70.127 to the Hale circumstances and those of Bridge Builders, Mindi Blanchard and Brenda Carpenter.

Copies of the decisions are in the Appendix 20-54.

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Hundreds of thousands of Washington residents, people born during World War II and in the years thereafter, are in need of increasing levels of care, including care which will allow them to stay in their home or homes created when they scaled down. The elder Hales clearly fit squarely within that category. The state of Washington has a number of laws to protect these people from those who might act in an unscrupulous manner when offering or providing "home care services" as defined by RCW 70.127.010 (6).

One of the most important s

tatutes is the In-Home Services Act, RCW Ch. 70.127. This Petition
challenges the appellate court's application of that law and how it claims that
that law implicates other laws such as the Vulnerable Adults Act, RCW
74.34.200 and the Consumer Protection Act, RCW Ch. 19.86.

# VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED A. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Petition for Review should be accepted by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) (4) because Decision of the Court of Appeals involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

#### B. The Elderly Hales Have Standing to Assert Violation of In-Home

#### Care Services Act RCW Ch. 70.127.

1. Elderly Hales Sought Application of the In-Home Care Services Act to Themselves.

The elderly Hales, vulnerable adults by any definition, sought declaratory judgment that the In-Home Care Services Act applied to Bridge Builders. If the In-Home Care Services Act applied:

- 1. Bridge Builders (and Defendants Blanchard and Carpenter) would have been subject to the requirement of the In-Home Services Act and additional requirements such as those contained in Chapter 246-335 WAC.
- The durable power of attorney held by Mindi Blanchard of Bridge
   Builders would have been illegal under RCW 70.127.150.
- 3. The Plaintiffs would have rights under the Vulnerable Adults Statute RCW 74.34.200 because an action under that Act could be brought against Bridge Builders (and Defendants Blanchard and Carpenter) ( as "home care agency."<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RCW 70.34.200 (This section also works to show standing):

<sup>(1)</sup> In addition to other remedies available under the law, a vulnerable adult who has been subjected to abandonment, abuse, financial exploitation, or neglect either while residing in a facility or in the case of a person residing at home who receives care from a home health, hospice, or home care agency, or an individual provider, shall have a cause of action for damages on account of his or her injuries, pain and suffering, and loss of property sustained. thereby. This action shall be available where the defendant

4. The Consumer Protection Act, RCW Ch. 19.86 would apply because a violation of the Act is, *per se*, a violation of the Consumer Protection Act pursuant to RCW 70.127.216.

# 2. The Court Holds the Elderly Hales Have No Standing to Claim Violation of the Act.

The Court of Appeals starts this most important section of its opinion with the statement "[n]ot everyone providing 'home care services' must be licensed. The legislature has provided many exemptions. RCW 70.127.040. In short, absent an exception, a person providing 'home care services' must be licensed."

True, but the inference that only a person providing home care services need be licensed is not accurate. The requirements of licensure are found in RCW 70.127.020. RCW 70.127.020 (1) also provides "a license is required for a person to advertise, operate, manage, conduct, open, or maintain an inhome services agency."

Bridge Builders advertised an array of services, homemaker services, to the general public which services were intended to assist a person so that

is or was a corporation, trust, unincorporated association, partnership, administrator, employee, agent, officer, partner, or director of a facility, or of a home health, hospice, or <a href="https://example.com/home care agency licensed or required to be licensed under chapter 70.127 RCW">home care agency licensed or required to be licensed under chapter 70.127 RCW</a>, as now or subsequently designated, or an individual provider.

he or she could continue to live in his or her home. The essential public concern of the Act is "Home care services" which means "nonmedical services and assistance provided to ill, disabled, or vulnerable individuals that enable them to remain in their residences. RCW 70.127.020(6). This is exactly why the elderly Hales contacted them.

The statute gives a very expansive definition of "home care services." RCW 70.127.020(6) provides::

Home care services include, but are not limited to: Personal care such as assistance with dressing, feeding, and personal hygiene to facilitate self-care; homemaker assistance with household tasks, such as housekeeping, shopping, meal planning and preparation, and transportation; respite care assistance and support provided to the family; or other nonmedical services or delegated tasks of nursing under RCW 18.79.260. [Emphasis added.]

The Act is not talking about things of a special nature, it is speaking to, or addressing, every sort of task which assists an elderly vulnerable person in making his or her residence her usual home for as long as convenient and logical. The people regulated are those who provide service to enable people to live in their home – "in-home care services." Or stated another way, services which enable a person to live in their residence.

Despite the obvious, the court came up with the notion that by looking at the legislative intent section of RCW chapter 70.127 and a statement in the *Cummings* [see below] case, that "[t]he legislature addressed this problem by

establishing minimum standards for care[fn15]<sup>4</sup> and by requiring that home care agencies serving these vulnerable populations be licensed to ensure compliance with these standards." *Cummings v. Guardianship Servs.*, 128 Wn. App. 742 750 (2005), *pet. rev. denied*, 157 Wn.2d 1006, 136 P.3d 759 (2006). But the court conflated the requirements of standing with the ultimate merit of the claim. The court looked at the statement of intent and its interpretation of the *Cummings* case, concluding the "zone of interests protected by the statute is that of home care services" and that somehow the elderly Hales lack standing to even assert their rights were violated under the statute, notwithstanding they fit squarely within the class of vulnerable adults the statute was designed to protect.

This is hardly logical.<sup>5</sup> The protection of the statute is the protection of those who might be at risk because those who deliver or advertise home care services are required to seek permission from the state to provide them and required regulation in the provision of them so as to protect those

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> [fn15] RCW 70.127.080 (establishing requirements for on-site surveys, professional and public liability coverage and criminal background checks); RCW 70.127.120 (establishing standards for record keeping, volunteer policies and complaint handling).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Query, lawyers provide legal services. But, the zone interest of the Rules of Professional Responsibility and the ELC do not have their zone of interest in the provision of services. No, the zone of interest is to ensure that members of the Bar are ethical.

receiving in-home services were not taken advantage of.

The Hales were not in this group according to the court because according to the court they did not actually receive home care services from the Defendants.

There are two problems with this holding: (1) they have standing because they are vulnerable adults within the class of persons the statute was designed to protect, and (2), they were asserting claims personal to themselves based on the conduct of the Defendants toward them individually. They were not asserting the "claims of others."

What are home care services? RCW 70.127.010(5) provides:

"Home care agency" means a <u>person administering or</u> <u>providing home care services directly or through a contract arrangement to individuals in places of temporary or <u>permanent residence</u>. A home care agency that provides delegated tasks of nursing under RCW 18.79.260(3)(e) is not considered a home health agency for the purposes of this chapter. [Emphasis added.]</u>

# RCW 70.127.010(6) provides:

"Home care services" means nonmedical services and assistance provided to ill, disabled, or vulnerable individuals that enable them to remain in their residences. Home care services include, but are not limited to: Personal care such as assistance with dressing, feeding, and personal hygiene to facilitate self-care; homemaker assistance with household tasks, such as housekeeping, shopping, meal planning and preparation, and transportation; respite care assistance and support provided to the family; or other nonmedical services or delegated tasks of nursing under RCW 18.79.260(3)(e).

First, it is questionable whether the zone of interests protected by the statute was only home care services, however broadly defined. Second, Bridge Builders did, in fact provide home care services to Lisle and Clara Hale and were engaging In-Home care services for then and would be providing an entire host of home care services to them.

The *raison d'etre* of their intent was the placement of Lisle and Clara Hale back in their home. The *raison d'etre*, the entire purpose of the involvement of Bridge Builders, was to recreate the in-home living conditions the Hales had been used to. In Lisle's case what he was use to before he went to Sherwood in early April 2008, and in Clara's case what she was use to in June 2008. One might call the involvement of Bridge Builders in this as something like in-home care service, supercharged into IN-HOME CARE SERVICES. Bridge Builders embarked upon the re-creation of the Hale's home. After doing so, they would have had to provide a myriad of homemaker assistance tasks. Appendix 59-60.

While at Sherwood, Bridge Builders took a number of steps and actions which consisted of nonmedical services and assistance provided to ill, disabled or vulnerable individuals that enabled them to remain in their residences." Their actions were to put the Hales back into their residence so that they could remain in their residence. In addition, Bridge Builders engaged in conduct consisting of "homemaker assistance with household

tasks, such as housekeeping, shopping, meal planning and preparation, and transportation; respite care assistance and support provided to the family; or other nonmedical services or delegated tasks of nursing under RCW 18.79.260."

Bridge builders took the Hales to their bank, helped the Hales change the accounts presumably to include Bridge Builders, helped the Hales write checks and pay bills especially those owing to Bridge Builders and Attorney Hastings. Bridge Builders did work at the Hales residence by getting a locksmith to go to the residence and change the lock, to gather materials in the residence and to inspect materials which were there. All of these services fell within the category of homemaker services under RCW 70.127.010(6). In addition Bridge Builders, once they were able to put the Hales back in their home, would have had to engage in homemaker services for them with respect of them and with respect of the home. These are identified in the Declaration of Tricia Hale, Appendix 59.

Thus, even if the court were to conclude the zone of interest protected by the statute is that of "home care services," which the Hales did in fact receive were the benefit of Bridge Builders home care services. Without question, therefore, the Hales had standing to question the rectitude of the Defendants.

The Court of Appeals is wrong about home care services being the zone of interests protected by the statute. The zone of interests protected by the statute are all those people who were elderly, ill, disabled, vulnerable, who seek or were receiving care from unlicensed providers.

These realities undercut the court's notion that Bridge Builders engaged in no wrongdoing. Thus, the court moved on to an exception from licensure found in RCW 70.127.040.

The Court of Appeals concedes that reading RCW 70.127.010 (6) in light of the fact, but in isolation, the "evidence arguably raises an issue of material fact whether Bridge Builders provided 'homemaker assistance;' however the court goes on to say that when read with the "case management" services exemption, the evidence does not rise to an issue of material fact.

The Court of Appeals said the efforts of Bridge Builders consisted only of "case management services" an exception under RCW 70.127.040 (14). The Court of Appeals is completely in error. There is no exemption under this statute for Bridge Builders. RCW 70.127.040(14) defines "case management services as:

A person providing case management services. For the purposes of this subsection, "case management" means the assessment, coordination, authorization, planning, training, and monitoring of home health, hospice, and home care, and does not include the direct provision of care to an individual.

#### [Emphasis added.]

This meaning of "case management" was discussed in *Cummings v. Guardianship Servs. of Seattle*, 128 Wn. App. 742, 750, 110 P.3d 796, pet.

rev. denied, 128 Wn. App. 742 (2005). There, the court said "[f]urther, the licensing statute applies not only to employers of care givers, but to those who provide services directly or 'through a contract arrangement.'" RCW 70.127.010(5). *Cummings* at 751, fn17 ("Had the legislature wanted to provide the exemption for those who provide care through a contract arrangement it would have said so.")

As we have seen, "case management" means the assessment. coordination, authorization, planning, training, and monitoring of home health. Such activities are managerial. The person is distanced, critical, advisory as to the services being received by the elderly or vulnerable person who wants to be in his or her home.

But under these facts, Bridge Builders was providing direct care to the Hales. In addition, Bridge Builders was undertaking to provide indirect provision of care for the Hales by hiring of the Korean Women's Association. It is to be noted that RCW 70.127.010 (5):

A home care agency that provides delegated tasks of nursing under RCW 18.79.260 (3)(e) is not considered a home health agency for the purposes of this chapter."

# 3. Bridge Builders and Blanchard: Attorneys in Fact.

At page 8 of the Decision, the Court of Appeal says, with some lusty assurance, that Plaintiffs' argument that Bridge Builders violates RCW 70.127.150 when it obtained powers of attorney from the Hales is incorrect.

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