RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 20, 2013, 2:56 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED	BY	E-MAIL	

NO. 89441-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT LISLE HALE, Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF LISLE HALE, deceased; CLARA HALE, surviving spouse of LISLE HALE; ROBERT L. HALE; DONALD HALE; and TRICIA HALE,

Appellants,

v.

BRIDGE BUILDERS, LTD.; MINDI R. BLANCHARD and John Doe Blanchard; BRENDA CARPENTER and John Doe Carpenter; JANET WATRAL and John Doe Watral,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Holly A. Williams, WSBA No. 41187 Attorney for Respondents Bridge Builders, Ltd., Mindi R. Blanchard, and Brenda Carpenter

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

B. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Hales' petition does not meet the criteria for granting review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court *only if* it meets at least one of the four considerations governing acceptance of review pursuant to RAP 13.4. *See* RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added). The Hales only assert that one of them is applicable here. They assert, without providing any supporting explanation or argument, that this case presents issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. (Appls.' Pet. 6.) This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest and the Court should decline review.

This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest because: (1) the questions presented are private in nature and fact-specific to the particular circumstances of this case and the relationship between these private parties, (2) an authoritative determination by the Court will not provide future guidance to public officers and is not desirable because the issues involve well-settled law and, with respect to the claims for declaratory relief, the Department of Health, not the Court, is the agency

vested with the authority and discretion to administer RCW 70.127 and determine which entities are subject to licensing, and (3) the issues before the Court are particular to the private dispute between these parties and are not likely to recur.

C. ARGUMENT

"In deciding whether an issue of substantial public interest is involved, the court looks at three criteria: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination that will provide future guidance to public officers, and (3) the likelihood that the question will recur." *In re Silva*, 166 Wn.2d 133, 137, 206 P.3d 1240 (2009). Factual issues that relate only to a particular case do not involve matters of substantial public interest. *Snohomish County v. State*, 69 Wn. App. 655, 661, 850 P.2d 546 (1993).

The issues the Hales assign error to and ask the Supreme Court to review are not issues of substantial public interest. The trial court held, and the appellate court affirmed, that the Hales lacked standing to pursue their claims for declaratory relief and were unable to establish necessary elements of their remaining claims. The holdings in this case are fact-specific and limited to the particular circumstances of this case and the private dispute between the parties.

1. The issues presented in this case are private in nature and not of substantial public interest.

While the public has an interest, certainly, in the protection of elderly adults and the licensing of in-home services agencies by the Department of Health, it has little or no interest in the private, brief business relationship between Lisle and Clara Hale and Bridge Builders, which did not involve the provision of in-home services.

The Hales present the following issues for the Court's review: 1) whether the Hales have standing to claim their rights were violated by Bridge Builders, 2) whether there is a disputed question of material fact if Bridge Builders was required to be licensed as an in-home services agency, 3) whether Bridge Builder held powers of attorney on behalf of the Hales in violation of RCW 70.127.150, 4) whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying the Hales discovery regarding Bridge Builders' services to third-parties, and 5) whether the trial court erred in dismissing the Hales claim for professional malpractice. (Appls.' Pet. 2.) As discussed below, each of these issues is private in nature, involving the application of law to the specific, undisputed facts of this case.

a. The Hales' lack of standing to pursue their claims for declaratory relief is not an issue of substantial public interest.

The appellate court affirmed the trial court's holding that the Hales lack standing to pursue their claims for declaratory relief because they do

not fall within the zone of interest the statute protects—the receipt of inhome care by elderly adults. As the Court of Appeals correctly reasoned, "receiving home care services is essential to fall within the zone of interests protected by chapter 70.127 RCW" and "a lack of evidence that Bridge Builders provided home care services to the Hales is determinative." *Hale v. Bridge Builders, Ltd.*, 176 Wn. App. 1007 (2013).

The holding was based on a fact-specific inquiry—application of the law to the specific, undisputed facts of this case. As the appellate court affirmed, there is no evidence in the record that creates an issue of material fact "on whether Bridge Builders provided home care services to the Hales." *Id.* The Hales acknowledge in their petition that Lisle and Clara Hale resided in an assisted living facility and received care from its staff during the entire nine-day period they received services from Bridge Builders. (Appls.' Pet. 12.) "What the evidence shows is that Bridge Builders made arrangements for Lisle and Clara to move back to their house. As the arrangements for the move were being made, Lisle and Clara terminated Bridge Builders' services and did not move back home." 176 Wn. App. 1007.

The services Bridge Builders provided to the Hales fall within the case management exception to the licensing requirement. *See* RCW 70.127.040(14). Even if the statue's zone of interest extended, as the

Hales argue, to those who merely seek rather than receive in-home care, the Hales still lack standing. Lisle and Clara Hale sought and received case management services from Bridge Builders, which coordinated and made arrangements for the Hales to hire third-party caregivers, Kathie Stepp and KWA Home Care, once the Hales had moved back home. The Hales changed their minds and terminated bridge Builders' services before moving home or engaging the services of any in-home care providers.

The Hales assignment of error to the court's holding that they lack standing does not present a legal issue of substantial interest to the public. It is not a question of law the resolution of which would help guide or resolve future cases. The issue is fact-specific involving application of the uncontested law to the unique circumstances of this case. The dispute is private in nature and does not implicate substantial public interest.

b. The question of whether Bridge Builders is required to be licensed is not an issue of substantial public interest.

The Hales next assignment of error involves application of well-settled law to the undisputed facts of this case and does not present an issue of substantial public interest. They contend there is a disputed question of material fact whether Bridge Builders was required to be licensed. Because the Hales lack standing, as discussed above, they do not

reach the substantive issue of whether Bridge Builders is required to be licensed pursuant to RCW 70.127.

The Hales lack standing to pursue their claims for declaratory relief because they did not receive in-home care from Bridge Builders.

Their ongoing to efforts to broaden their claims to encompass services provider by Bridge Builders to third-parties do nothing to bring the Hales within the zone of interest of the statute. The doctrine of standing prohibits a party from asserting another's legal right. Because the Hales did not receive in-home care from Bridge Builder's, they lack standing to reach the issue of whether Bridge Builders was required to be licensed based on services it provided to other, third-parties.

As with the issue of standing, the dispute over this issue is private in nature and the particular facts of this case are determinative of the outcome. The court's holding rests on application of settled law to the undisputed facts of this case and the matter does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

c. The validity of the powers of attorney is not an issue of substantial public interest.

Likewise, the validity of the powers of attorney held on behalf of the Hales involves a fact-specific inquiry that is private, rather than public in nature. A licensee is prohibited from holding a power of attorney "on behalf of any individual who is receiving care from the licensee." RCW 70.127.150. Lisle and Clara hale did not receive in-home care from Bridge Builders. Accordingly, Bridge Builders was not prohibited from holding a power of attorney on behalf of the Hales.

d. The parties' discovery dispute does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

The parties' discovery dispute and the issue of whether the trial court abused its discretion in its ruling on that dispute does not involve matters of substantial public interest. The Hales assign error to the appellate court's holding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Hales' motion to compel discovery and granting Bridge Builders' motion for protective order. The Hales sought discovery of records concerning Bridge Builders' services to clients other than the Hales. As the Court of Appeals noted, the Hales' claims "turn on whether they themselves received home care services from Bridge Builders" and they "cannot establish standing or the elements of their claims based on services Bridge Builders provided to other clients." 176 Wn. App. 1007.

The traditional limiting doctrine of standing exists to prohibit a party from asserting another's legal right. *Grant County Fire Protection Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004). Contrary to the Hales' assertion, they should not have the

opportunity to prove whether or not Bridge Builders provided in-home care to third-parties since Bridge Builders did not provide in-home care to the Hales.

This issue, too, involves the application of well-settled law to the particular facts of this case. The court's ruling on the parties' discovery dispute relates only to this particular case, is fact-specific, and does not involve substantial public interest.

e. Whether the Hales' malpractice claim was properly dismissed is not an issue of substantial public interest.

The court's dismissal of the Hales' malpractice claim due to their failure to establish elements essential to the claim is not a matter of substantial public interest. The issue of whether the Hales' demonstrated injury turns on the particular facts of this case; it is not a question that is public in nature.

The appellate court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the Hales' malpractice claim because the Hales failed to show how the alleged breaches proximately caused injury. Their unsupported assertions of injury were insufficient to survive summary judgment. They failed to set forth specific facts demonstrating any injury from the alleged breach in either their pleadings in the trial court or in their appellate briefing. In

their petition for review, the Hales again fail to cite to any specific facts in the record demonstrating injury. (Appls.' Pet. 18-19.)

Once again, this inquiry is fact specific to the private dispute between these parties. The court's ruling relates only to the particular facts of this case, or in this instance failure to set forth specific facts, and is not an issue of substantial public interest.

2. An authoritative determination by the Court will not provide future guidance to public officers.

This is also not a case where an authoritative determination by the Court would provide future guidance to public officers and be desirable. The holdings of the trial court and the appellate court are based on the application of well-settled law to the particular facts of this case. Given the fact-specific nature of the parties' disputes, the court's holdings are based on the specific circumstances of this case and the particular relationships and interactions between these parties. A decision by the Supreme Court would therefore provide little guidance in future cases, which would likewise turn on their specific facts and circumstances.

Further, with respect to the Hales' claims for declaratory relief, the Department of Health, and not the courts, is the agency vested with the authority and discretion to administer RCW 70.127 and determine which entities are subject to licensing. Decisions of the department in its

administrative capacity provide guidance to public officials and in-home care providers regarding the requirements of licensing. The Hales brought this matter before the Department, and it investigated and found no violation. (CP 295.) A decision by this Court "would look very much like an advisory opinion" and provide little guidance where "enforcement of the alleged violations remains in the discretion of the agency, and no party is bound to act in accord with such judgment." *See Brown v. Vail*, 169 Wn.2d 318, 334, 237 P.3d 263 (2010).

Given the agency's authority and discretion on licensing under RCW 70.127, the trial court held that the Hales' claims for declaratory relief do not present a justiciable controversy because a decision by the court would not be final and conclusive. (CP 26.) The Hales did not assign error to the trial court's ruling on justiciability or brief the issue. They provide no argument or authority challenging that ruling now or stating why it should be reviewed, and for that reason alone, this Court should decline review of those issues.

3. The issues in this case are not likely to recur.

Lastly, as this case involves a private dispute, the likelihood that these particular questions will recur is remote. While other cases involving application and interpretation of RCW 70.127 may arise, they are likely to be as fact specific and tailored to the circumstances of their

case and the relationships among the parties as the instant case. The precise issues before the Court in this case are not likely to recur, are specific to the private dispute between these parties, and do not implicate substantial public interest.

D. CONCLUSION

The Hales have not provided sufficient grounds for this Court to grant review. They assert without providing any supporting argument that this case presents issues of substantial public interest; it does not. It involves very limited and fact specific issues respecting the services provided by Bridge Builders to Lisle and Clara Hale over the course of nine days, which were properly resolved before the trial court and the Court of Appeals. This case does not involve issues of substantial public interest and for the foregoing reasons, the Hales' petition for review should be denied.